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DUBINA, CircuitJudge:

Richard Chafin appeals his convictions for fedg@ralgram embezzlement,
in violation of 18 U.S.C. 66, and foobstructing justice bliindering the
communia@tion of information abow potential federal offense to federal officials,
in violationof 18 U.S.C. 81512(b)(3). After reviewing the record, reading the
parties’ briefs, and having the benefit of oral argument, we affirm Chafin’s
embezzlement conviction, vacate hig5L2(b)(3) conviction, and remand to the

district court for further pro@aingsconsistent wittihis opinion
l.

In 2009, a federal grand jury indicted Chafin on one count of federal
program embezzlement and one count of obstructing a federal investigation. He
pleaded not guilty and waived his right to trial by jury. During e-tlay bench
trial in May 2010, the government presented evidence of the following.

Chafin served as the Sheriff of Brooks County, Georgia for almost 20 years.
In 2007 and 2008, his last two years in office, 225 checks totaling $65,730 were
drawn on the jhcommissary account and made payable to and cashed by him.
During this period, both a clerk and an administrative assistant in the sheriff's
department asked him about the checks. He told them that the funds were to pay
an unnamed confidential informant. But according to five employees of
convenience stores near the sheriff’'s department, Chafin frequently came into their
stores, cashed checks from the jail commissary account, and used the money to buy

lottery tickets.
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In both 2007 and 2008, Brooks County received federal funds in excess of
$10,000. Indeed, over fiscal year 2007 (October 2006 through September 2007),
the county received $33,897 in federal funds, and it received the same amount over
the next fiscal year. These funds were part of a gramt the Office for Victims
of Crime, which Congress created to disburse funds under the Victims of Crimes
Act, and they were used to cover some of the personnel and operating costs
associated with the witnesslvocate position in the sheriff's department
According to Robert Thornton, the state official who oversaw these grants’
disbursement, at least $25,000 of the witness advocate’s salary each year was paid
from these funds. Thornton also estimated that during the 2007 and 2008 calendar
yearsBrooksCounty received $42,000 and $25,0@&pectively

Chafin was defeated by Mike Dewey in the 2008 election. After taking
office, the newly elected sheriff engaged a certified public accountant to ringew
department’s financial records. The accountaevsew unearthed the checks
written to and cashed by Chafin from the jail commissary accaurs.
accountant’seview, howeverdid not uncover any documents supporting Chafin’'s
claim that he paid a confidential informant with these funds.

The Georgia Breau of Investigatio*GBI”) began an investigation into the
alleged misuse of jail commissary fundsBIl Agent Michael Callahan
interviewed Chafin about the jail commissary account. At trial, Agent Callahan
played an audio recording of this interviet®efore asking any questionsgent

Callahanadvised Chafin of hidiranda’ rights and told him that the district

! Miranda v. Arizona384 U.S. 436, 444—45, & Ct. 1602, 1612 (1966).
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attorney had requested an investigation into the alleged misuse of jail commissary
funds.

Agent Callahan asked Chafin to explain why 225 checks had been drawn on
the jail commissary account and made payable to and cashed by him. Chafin did
not deny cashing the checks, but he did deny buying lottery tickets with these
funds. He told Agent Callahdhat much of this money went to Joshua Wolfs, h
confidential informant, though Chafin denied paying Wolfe over $60,000. Chafin
added that he paid another informant several thousand dollars for information
about a Mexican drug deal in the area.

Chafin then explained to Agent Callahan that he vielwedd payments as
an investment in the seizure proceeds that would likely follow. And when the jail
commissary account ran low, he asked the county to move funds from the drug
seizure account to the jail commissary account, thus allowing him to keep paying
his informants. Chafin told Agent Callahdrat while no one in the sheriff’'s
department knew about his informants, he had records in the office showing where
they signed for their payments. A subsequent GBI search for Chafin’s
confidentiatinformant records came up empty.

Joshua Wolfe committed suicide in December 2008. While Chifimed
to have paid Wolfe large sums of money as a confidential informant, those closest
to him saw no evidence of this. His wife did not know that he was an informant,
nor did she believe that he was friends with Chafin or had ever mentioned meeting
with him. At the time of Wolfe’s death, he and his wife were two months behind

on their mortgagdacing foreclosureandpaying back taxeskFurthermore, ther
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Wolfe’s death, his wife and beneficiary received only $30 from his bank account.
Wolfe’s neighbor, a former Lowndes County sheriff’'s deputy, and his coworker,
the woman with whom he lefftis suicide note, likewise did not know that Wolfe
was an informant. Nor did they remember him making any noteworthy purchases
in 2007 and 2008 other than a used motorcycle that had a lien on it.

Following the government’s case-chief, Chafin moved for a judgment of
acquittal. SeeFed. R. Crim. P. 29. He contended that the government failed to
prove that his conduct hindered federal law enforcement, which he said was
required for a conviction under 18 U.S.CL%12(b)(3). He also claimed that the
government failed to prove that he was guilty of fedpragram embezzlement
because the evidence did sbbw that the federdilinds threshold ii8 U.S.C.

8 666(b)was met According to him, because most of the federal funds Brooks
County receivedvere used to pathe withess advocate’s salary, and because

8 666(c)exceps bona fide salaries paid in the usual course of business, the
government had not shown that the county received more than $10,000 in federal
funds during the ongear statutory period. The district court carried the motion
with the case, and Chafin rested without presenting a defense.

In April 2012, the district court issued a written order denyimeggRule 29
motion and finding Chafin guilty on both counts. In October, the district court
sentenced Chafito concurrent 13nonth terms of imprisonment on each count

and imposed a thregear term of supervised release. Four days later, Chafin
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moved foranew trial based on newly discovered evidence. The district court

denied the motion in December 2013. This timely appeal follGwed.
.

Several standards of review govern this app8afe review both a
challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence and the denial of a Rule 29 motion for
judgment of acquittadle novd’ United States v. Gamqrg35 F.3d 480, 497 (11th
Cir. 2011). We examine the evidence “in the light most favorable to the
government and resolv[e] all reasonable inferences and credibility issues in favor
of the guilty verdicts.”United States WS Infrastructure, In¢.576 FE3d 1195,
1203 (11th Cir. 2009). We will not overturn a guilty verdict “unless no reasonable
trier of fact could find guilt beyond a reasonable douhkiriited States v. Farley
607 F.3d 1294, 1333 (11th Cir. 2010). Nor will we disturb the denial of a Rule 29
motion so long as a reasonable trier of fact could find guilt beyond a reasonable
doubt. Gamory 635 F.3d at 497.

When a party raises an objection for the first time on appeal, we review for
plain erroronly. United States v. Rodriguezs1F.3d 1214, 1251 (11th Cir. 2Q.4).
To prevail under this standard, the party nastaiblistthe existence odn error
thatis plain and that affects substantial righiid. & 1252. The second prong is

satisfied if the error is plain at the time of appellate review, even if it was not so at

2 Chafin has completed his term of imprisonment but remains on supervised release until
November 2016. But because he challenges his underlying convjctiblaseral consequences
are presumed, and this case is not m&ate United States v. Juvenile M&é4 U.S. |,
131S.Ct. 2860, 2864 (2011).
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the time of trial. Henderson v. United Stategs68 U.S.  ,  133S.Ct. 1121,
1130-31 (2013). An error affects substantial rights if, but for the error, the judicial
proceeding’s outcome would have been differdsmited States v. Beckles65
F.3d 832, 844 (11th Cir. 20Q9)f these conditions are metye may exerciseur
discretion to notic¢heforfeited error, but only if it “seriously affects the fairness,
integrity, or public reputation of judicial proceeding$Jhited States v. Rodriguez
398 F.3d 12911298(11th Cir. 2005)quotingUnited States v. Cottos35 U.S.
625, 631, 12X5.Ct. 1781, 1785 (2002rlteration omittd)).

We review the district court’s interpretation or construction of a statute de

novo. Colbert v. United State§g85 F.&8 1384, 1389 (11th Cir. 2015).

A.

In 1984, Congress made it a crime for an agent of a covered entity (e.g., a
state or local governméi to embezzle or convert to his own use property valued
at $5000 or more and owned by or under the care, custody, or control of that
covered entity 18 U.S.C. $66(a)(1)(A). Congress limited the statute’s reach to
only thosecovered entitiethat receive “benefits. .under a Federal program” of
more than $10,000 during “any egear period.” $66(b).

According to the legislative history, Congress enacté@g“to protect the

integrity of the vast sums of money distributed through Federal pnsgram

% Specifically, the statute covers “an agent of an organization, or of a Stateploc
Indian tribal government, or any agency thereof,” defining the tagest State local, and
government agendyroadly. 18 U.S.C. § 66&)(1), (d)(14).
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theft, fraud, and undue influence by briberyhited States v. Kee676 F.3d 981,

990 (11th Cir. 2012) (quoting S. Rep. No-2&5, at 370 (1983§s reprinted in

1984 U.S.C.C.A.N. 3182, 3511)). Put simply, Cas3g’s purpose wde ensure
theintegrity of the covered entitigeceivingfederalassistanceld. At the same

time, the legislative history makes clear th&@5 does not extend to “every

Federal contract or disbursement of funds” of more than $10,000. S. Rep-No. 98
225, at 370.Rather, he statutes intentwas tocover only benefitef a “Federal
program,” meaning “a specific statutory scheme authorizing the Federal assistance
in order to promote or achieve certain policy objectived.” To illustrate the

statute’s limits, théegislative historyexplains thaan employee who steals $5000
from his employer does not commit a federal crime just bedhasenployer is a
supplier from which “a government agency lawfully purchases more than $10,000
in equipment.”ld. In short, the statute’s reach is limited. Even so, given its
history and purpose, the Supreme Court has repeatedly rejected “statutory
constructions aimed at narrowin@86’s scope, in favor of a broad reading.”

Keen 676 F.3d at 990.

In 1986, Congresadded an exception to the statute: “T¢estion does not
apply to bona fide salary, wages, fees, or other compensation paid, or expenses
paid or reimbursed, in the usual course of busines$66%c). The legislative
history forsubsectior{c) is limited to a single comment: the statute was amended
“to avoid its possible application to acceptable business practices.” H.R. Rep. No.

99-797, at 30 (1986xs reprinted iNL986 U.S.C.C.A.N. 6138, 6153.



Case: 14-10160 Date Filed: 10/28/2015 Page: 9 of 20

B.

The district court found Chafin guilty of fedefalogam embezzlement
under 18 U.S.C. §66(a)(1)(A). We will affirm this convictiorf the government
presented evidence sufficient to prove that (1) Chafin was an agent of Brooks
County; (2) Chafin embezzled or otherwise knowingly converted to his own use
property owned by or under the care, custody, or control of Brooks County; (3) the
embezzled or converted property had a value of $5000 or more; and (4) “during a
continuous ongear period beginning no earlier than one year [before Chafin’s
unlawful] conduct and ending no later than one year after the conduct, [Brooks
County] received in excess of $10,000 under a federal program involving federal
assistance moniesKeen 676 F.3d at 989.

On appeal, Chafin challenges only the sufficiency of the evidentieeon
federatfunds threshold. He contends that the government did not prove that
Brooks County received more than $10,000 in nonexcepted federal funds during
2007 and 2008. He supports this contention with two pillars: one legal and one
factual.

Chafin’slegal pillar rests on the bedrock statutamerpretation principle: a
statute’s plain meaning controls absent ambiguous language or absurd fseilts.
United States v. CarrelR52 F.3d 1193, 1198 (11th Cir. 2001). Given this
foundation, he builds higgal pillar out of the text o 666(c), which provides that
“[t]his section does not apply to bona fide salarypaid. . .in the usual course of
business.” In his view, because the plain and unambiguous meatrting) section

Is “this sectioft—8 666— subsectior{c)’s bona fide salary exception applies to
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thewhole statute, including thederatfunds threshold. He also concludes that
this reading does not lead to absurd results, underscoring the Sixth Circuit’s similar
conclusion about the exception’s plain mearatrgosttwenty years agoSee
United States v. MillsL40 F.3d 630, 633 (6th Cir. 1998) (“[T]he bona fide salary
exception osubsectior{c) must be read to apply to all 0686.").

Chafin’s factual pillar is composed of two undisputed facts. Firgaamn
fiscal year 2007 and 2008, Brooks County received $33,997 in feptars from
the Office for Victims of Crime. Second, each year Brooks County used at least
$25,000 of these funds to pay thignessadvocate’s salarrthe bondides of
which the government does not dispute.

Applying 8 666(c)’s exception tg 666(b)’'s federalfunds threshold, Chafin
asserts that th@ithess advocate'salary is excepted frothe federal grants
Brooks County received. Thus, he concludeis, cairt should vacathis federal
program embezzlement conviction because the government failed to prove that

Brooks County received more than $10,000 in nonexcepted federal funds.
C.

Chafin’s appeal presents a statutorierpretation question of first
impresson for this or any circuitvhether §66(c)’s exception applies to

§ 666(b)’s federafunds threshold.

* Although the Sixth Circuit concluded that subsecfit)is exception applies to the
whole statute, it did samia case involving a challenge to thecadledtransactional elemeruf
8 666(a)(1)(B) and (a)(2); that is, whether a bribe was made or accepted “ictcmmath any
business, transaction, or series of transactions . . . involving anything of value of $5,000 or
more.” See Mills 140 F.3d at 633 (“[T]he defendants focus their attacks solely upon the
government’s contention that the co-conspirators’ receipt of the deputy sbiesifiqying more

10
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To answer this question, we begin with gtatute’'stext. That is because
where the statutory language is clear and unambiguous, we “presume that
Congress said what it meant and meant what it sdithited States v. Brown&05
F.3d 1229, 1250 (11th Cir. 2007) (quotidgited States v. Steel&47 F.3d 1316,
1318 (11th Cir. 1998) (en banc)). Indeed, “[o]ur inquiry must cease Iif the statutory
languageas unambiguous and ‘the statutory scheme is coherent and consistent.”
Med. Transp. Mgmt. v. Comm%06 F.3d 1364, 1368 (11th Cir. 2007) (quoting
Robinson v. Shell Oil, Co519 U.S. 337, 340, 119. Ct. 843, 846 (1997)).

To test for ambiguity, “we must examine the language of the statute, ‘the
specific context in which that language is used, and the broader context of the
statute as a whole.”U.S. Steel Mining Cov, Director, OWCR719 F.3d 1275,

1281 (11th Cir. 2013)guotingRobinson519 U.S. at 341, 113. Ct. at 846).
However,because the “meanirgor ambiguity—of certain words or phrases may
only become evident when placed in context,” we read them “in their context and
with a view to their place in the overalhtiitory scheme.’King v. Burwel] 576

US. , ,135.Ct. 2480, 24892015) (quoting=DA v. Brown & Williamson
Tobacco Corp.529 U.S. 120, 132, 129. Ct. 1291, 130001 (2000))see also

Deal v. United State$08 U.S. 129, 132, 113, Ct. 1993, 196 (1993) (Itis a
“fundamental principle of statutory construction (and, indeed, of language itself)
that the meaning of a word cannot be determinesialation, but must be drawn

from the context in which it is used.”). In the end, “[s]tatutory languag

than $5,000 per year establish that the transactions involved something valued at $5,000 or
more.”).

11
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ambiguous if it is susceptible to more than one reasonable interpretdtien.”
Transp. Mgm{.506 F.3d at 1368.

Here,althoughthe government offers a number of prudential objections to
Chafin’s reading of $66(c) it does not posit that the plameaning of the phrase
this sectiorwarrants applyingubsectior{c)’'s exception to only certain parts of
8§666. Nor doe# contend that the legislative history justifies construing the
exception’s scope narrowhAt the same time, as the Supreme Cootes,
“Congress ordinarily adheres to a hierarchical scheme in subdividingpsyat
sections.” Koons Buick Pontiac GMC, Inc. v. Nigh43 U.S. 50, 60, 125. Ct.
460, 467 (2004).

After considering the overall statutory scheme, we conclude that theephras
“[t]his section” in 8666(c) is unambiguous and that the statutory scheme is
consistent and coherentf. Perry v. First Nat'l Bank459 F.3d 816, 820 (7th Cir.
2006) (holding that the phra#ias sectionn 15 U.S.C. 81681m(h)(8)
“unambiguously referto [8§] 1681m as a whole”). We thus hold that
subsectior{c)’s exception applies teubsectior(b)'s federatfunds threshold.

Accord Mills 140 F.3d at 638[T]he bona fide salary exception sfibsectior(c)

must be read to apply to all 0686.”); United States v. Nichql40 F.3d 999,

1000 (9th Cir. 1994) (explaining that®6(c) “excludes local agencies that receive
federal funds only as ‘bona fide salary, wages, fees, or other compensation paid, or

expenses paid or reimbursed, in the usual course of businéss.”).

® Other circuits have split over whether subsect@)is exception applies to the
transactional element of a6&6 bribery chargeCompare United States v. Robins663 F.3d
265, 270, 272 (7th Cir. 2011) (holdjnhat 8666(c) does not “preclude| ] the government’s use

12
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D.

Chafin contends that we should vacateféderalprogramembezzlement
conviction. Applying $66(c) to 8666(b), he posits that the federal funds
designated for payment of the victim advocate’s salary do not count toward the
federatfunds threshold. Thus, he concludes, excepting these funds, the
government failed to prove that Brooks County received more than $10,000 in

federal funds. We disagree and thus affirm his conviction.
1.

Having concluded that @6(c) applies to the whole statute, we must
determine what types of payments exeeptedrom 8§ 664b)’s federatfunds
threshold Again, we begin with the texSubsectior{c) exceptsbona fide salary,
wages, fees, or other compensation paid, or expenses paid or reimbursed, in the
usual course of business.” Thus, for a salary to be excepted, it must not only be
“bona fide” but also “paid . .in the usual course of businesSubsetion (b), on
the other hand, limits the statute’s reach to only those covered entities that received
“benefits in excess of $10,000 under a Federal program” in a statutorily defined

oneyear period.See8§ 666d)(5).

of salary evidence to establish the transactieteahent” of §66(a)(1)(B) offense)andUnited
States v. Marmolej89 F.3d 1185, 1190 n.5 (5th Cir. 1996) (noting thé6&(c)’'s exception
“refers to the alleged wrongdoing, .not to the nature of the benefit that the agency receives
pursuant to the Federal programéjf'd on other grounds sub nom. Salinas v. United Staz3
U.S. 52, 118.Ct. 469 (1997)with Mills, 140 F.3d at 633 (hailag thatsubsectior{c)’'s
exception applies to the transactional element o6@&gbribery offense).

Although we hold that § 666(c) covers the whole statute, we express no opinion about
how the exception applies to the transactional element in subsgetj(i)¢B) and (a)(2).

13
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When applied to 66(b), we concludthat §666(c)’s exception has more
than one reasonable interpretatidfor example, it could mean that a bona fide
salary paid by the federal government in the usual course of business to a covered
entity does not count toward the fedefahds threshold Alternatively,it could
mean that federal funds designated for the payment of a bona fide salary by a
covered entity in the usual course of business do not count toward the-federal
funds threshold The meaning ofubsectior{c)’s exception for purposed
subsectior{b) is thus ambiguousSee Med. Transp. Mgmb06 F.3d at 1368.

To resolve this ambiguity, which remains despite examining the exception’s
plain language anitls statutory context, we magonsultthe statute’s legislative
history. United Sates v. ZunigaArteaga 681 F.3d 1220, 1223 (11th Cir. 2012);
see also United States v. Copelahd3 F.3d 1439, 1441 (11th Cir. 1998) (“In
determining whether Lockheed falls within the scopg& 666b), we must
consider the statute’s text, legislative history, and purpose.”).

As already noted, the legislative histafyoutthe addition osubsectior(c)

Is scant: a single comment stating that the statute was amended “to avoid its
possible application to acceptable business practices.” H.R. R&p7%& 30.
This comment suggests thhe exceptiorserves two purposesFirst, it reinforce
the wall separating acceptable business practices and criminal cerelttetin
the statute’sext Second,it plugs any“possible” gaps in the statutotgxt that

might criminalizeacceptable business practi¢ésTheexception’s narronwgap

® Given the dearth of legislative history, we must be extra cautious in drawingnicésr
about congressional intent. That said, evehig comment permits an inferenttat Congress
intendedthe exceptioro coveronly certain parts of 8§ 666, our conclusion that plain meaning

14
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filling purposethus stands in stark contrast to the statute’s broad pu#pose
“ensuringthe integrity of organizations participating in federal assistance
programs.” Keen, 676 F.3d at 990 (quotirgscher v. United State§29 U.S.
667, 678, 1205.Ct. 1780, 1787 (2000))Despitethe statute’droad purposehe
legislative history implies th& 666 wasnot intended toeach“every Federal
contract or disbursement afrfds” of more than $10,000. S. Rep. No225, at
370. Even spwve have notethatthe Supreme Couhas repeatedly rejected
“statutory constructions aimed at narrow§66s scope, in favoof a broad
reading”’based on the statute’s “ambitious ohjeel’ Keen 676 F.3d at 990.
After reviewing8 6665 legislative historyye conclude that as applied to
8 666(b) only one interpretation & 666.c) reflects the statute’s “ambitious
objective” and the exception’s gdifling role. For this reason, we resolve the
ambiguity in favor of this interpretation ahdld that subsectio(b)'s federat
funds thresholds satisfiedonly if during the statutory period a covered entity
receivesmore than $10,00d “benefits. . .under a Federglrogram”after
excepting anybona fide salary, wages, fees, or other compensation paid, or
expenses paid or reimbursed’that entityby the federal government in the usual

course of business.

renders subsection (c) applicable to the whole statute would remain unscagleddowery v.
Ala. Power Cq.483 F.3d 1184, 1205 (11th Cir. 2007) (concludimat“it is error tocloudthe
plain meaning of a statutory provision with contrary legislative history”).

15



Case: 14-10160 Date Filed: 10/28/2015 Page: 16 of 20

2.

While we agree with Chafin'sonclusionthat§ 666(c) appies to8 666b),
we disagree with hisontentionthatthe victim advocate’s bona fide salary is
excepted from the federal benefits Brooks County received. At trial, the
government proved that calendar years 2007 and 2@®oks County received
more than $10,000 in federal funiiem grans throughthe Office for Victims of
Crime. These grants were intended to cover some op#reonnel and operating
costsassociated with the witnesslvocate position in the sheriff's office, including
the witness adycate’s salaryHowever, wile thesegrans providedthe county
with federalfundsto pay the witness advocate’s salarngdéfundswerenot salary
paymentgrom the federal government to Brooks County. Thius funds that
paid the witness advocate’s salary are not excepted when calcthatifegleral
program benefits Brooks County received §@66(b) purposes.

Accordingly, we conclude from the record that the government presented
sufficient evidence to prove that Brooks County received more than $10,000 in
federal funds during both 2007 and 2008. Because Chafin did not challenge the
sufficiency of proof on any other element, we affirm his conviction for federal

program embezzlement.

’ The district court concluded that § 666(c) does not apply to @p&6d thus did not
except the witness advocate’s salary from the federal funds Brooks Counvgdecéihile the
district court’s interpretation & 66§c) was error, this error was harmless because, like the
district court, we conclude that the withess advocate’s salary is not excappetdoses of
§ 664Db).

16
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V.

The district court fand that Chafin’s statements to GBI Agent Callahan, a
state law enforcement officer, violated 18 U.S.@582(b)(3), which criminalizes
misleading statements to federal officials about a possible federal offaitsdo
so, the district court relied on our decisiorUnited States v. Veal53 F.3d 1233
(11th Cir. 1998). There, we held that this provision “does not require that a
defendant know the federal nature of the crime about which he provides
information because the statute criminalizestthesferof misleading information
which actually relates topotentialfederal offense.”ld. at 1252. We explained
that this provision negates a specific intent mens rea. And we added that “[i]t is
irrelevant to [our] inquiry whether the person who provides false or misleading
information that ultimately becomes relevant to a federal investigatiended
that a federal investigator or judge receive that information; it is relevant only that
a federal investigator or judgeceivedt.” Id.

In April 2010,a month before Chafin’s trial, we extendéelals reasoning,
concluding that “thg@ossibleor potentialcommunication to federal authorities of a
possible federal crime is sufficient for purposes of [8] 1512(a)(1)(Ghited
States v. Fowler603 F.3d 83, 888 (11th Cir. 2010). After Chafin’s trial but
before the district coufound him guilty and sentenced hithe Supreme Court

granted Fowler’s petition fawrit of certiorari and reversed, rejectingr

8 Specifically,§ 1512b)(3) makes it a crime for anyone to “engaljie] misleading
conduct toward another person, with intent to . . . hinder, delay, or prevent the communication to
a law enforcement officer or judge of the United States of information retlatithg commission
or possible commission af Federal offense.”

17
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previously enunciategossibility standardFowler v. United Stateb63 U.S. |
_,131S.Ct.2045, 2053 (2011). The Court held that to support a conviction
under 81512, “the Government must show that there wasaonable likelihood

that a relevant communication would have been made to a federal offideat’
__,131S.Ct.at 2048;see also idat ___, 131S. Ct. at 2052 (“We consequently

hold that (in a case such as this one where the defendant does not have particular
federallaw enforcement officers in mind) the Government must shogasonable
likelihoodthat, hadge.g, the victim communicated with law enforcement officers,

at least one relevant communication would have been made to a federal law
enforcement officer.”).

Onappeal, Chafin asserts for the first time that the district court erred by
analyzing the evidence undéeals possibility standard. Because he did not
object below, we review for plain erronly. See RodrigueZ51F.3dat 1251
And while this standal of review erects a series of hurdles to appellate relief, we
conclude that Chafin easily clears them and tigacate his 8512(b)(3)
conviction.

First, the district court should have analyzed the evidence &odder's
reasonable likelihood standiarIn this circuit, a prior panel opinion can be
disregarded only if its “holding is overruled by the Court sitting en banc or by the
Supreme Court.'United States v. Kalep79 F.3d 1246, 1255 (11th Cir. 2009)
(quotingSmith v. GTE Corp236 F.3d 12921300 n.8 (11th Cir. 2001)). For a
Supreme Court decision to “overrule” a prior panel precedent, “the intervening

Supreme Court case [must] actually abrogate or directly conflict with, as opposed

18



Case: 14-10160 Date Filed: 10/28/2015 Page: 19 of 20

to merely weaken, the holding of the prior pandtl” Fowlerdid precisely that to
our holding inVeal See Fowler563 U.S.at __ , 131S.Ct.at 2048, 2052.
Indeed, the government does not contend otherwise. We thus conclude that the
district court’s use o¥eals standard waseversibleerror.

Secondthe district court’s error is plain on appellate review. This is enough
for purposes oplain-error review See Hendersom68 U.S. |, 133.Ct. at
1130G-31.

Third, the district court affected Chafin’s substantial rights by analyzing the
evidence unerVeals standard. At trial, the government introduced no evidence
showing that Chafin’s statements to the GBI agent investigating the alleged misuse
of the jail commissary account were reasonably likely to be communicated to
federal authorities. Just the opposite. The government proved that the GBI agent
told Chafin that the local district attorney had initiated the investigation. So had
the district court applieBowler's standard to the evidence, Chafin’s trial on the
§ 1512(b)(3) charge would have endecimacquittal instead ad conviction. We
thus conclude that the district court’s error affected Chafin’s substantial rigéés.
Beckles 565 F.3d at 844.

Fourth, and finally, if allowed to stand, the district court’s ewould
seriously affetthe fairness integrity, and publicreputationof judicial
proceedings We may thus exercise our discretion to notice this forfeited anar
correct it. SeeRodriguez 398 F.3d at 1299.

Because we conclude that Chafin clears all four hutdlappellate relief

under plairerror review, we vacate his1®12(b)(3) conviction.
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V.

In conclusion, we affirm Chafin’s embezzlement conviction under 18 U.S.C.
8§ 666(b) because the exception i665(c) does not reach the witness advocate’s
salary We vacaté€hafin’sconviction under 18 U.S.C.812(b)(3) and remand
the case to the district court for further proceedings because the district court
plainly erred in applying this circuit’s nevejected possibility standard rather than
the Supreme Court’s reasonable likelihood standard. Based on the trial evidence,
the government did not meet its burden of proving that there was a reasonable
likelihood that Chafifs misleading information about a potential federal offense
would be communicatei federal authoties.

AFFIRMED in part, VACATED in part, and REMANDED.
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